
 
 

 

 
The City of Lake Forest 

Plan Commission Agenda  
Remote Meeting 

 
Regular Meeting Wednesday, January 13, 2021 

Remote Access Meeting 
              6:30  p.m.  

  Rosemary Kehr Chairman  

James Moorhead Monica Ruggles Michael Freeman 
Susan Athenson John Dixon         Stephen Douglass 

The Plan Commission meetings are broadcast live on Cable TV 
 
This meeting will be conducted remotely in compliance with Governor’s Executive 
Order 2020-07, issued on March 16, 2020 that suspended certain Open Meetings 
Act provisions relating to in-person attendance by members of a public body.  The 
Governor’s Order: (1) suspends the requirement in Section 2.01 that “members of a 
public body must be physically present;” and (2) suspends the limitations in Section 
7 on when remote participation is allowed.  
 
Members of the public can view the meeting by following the public audience 
link below.  
https://us02web.zoom.us/s/84203247431  
Webinar ID  842 0324 7431   Passcode: 1861 
 
The meeting will also be broadcast on Channel 17.  Members of the public who 
wish to testify during the public comment portions of the meeting can do so by 
calling 847-810-3643. Questions and comments can also be submitted using the 
Q&A function at the bottom of the screen. City staff will be on site at the City’s 
Municipal Services Facility during the meeting however, the Plan Commissioners 
will participate remotely.     

 
1. Introduction of Commission members and staff, overview of meeting procedures 

– Chairman Kehr 
 

2. Consideration of the minutes of the September 9, 2020 Plan Commission 
meeting.  

 
3. Public Hearing and Action: Consideration of a request for a Special Use 

Permit authorizing a drive thru lane, professional offices on the first floor and 
variances from setback and parking requirements for a commercial development 
proposed on the southeast corner of Everett and Waukegan Roads.  A single 
story retail building near the corner, a three story medical office building on the 
southern part of the site, shared parking and landscape amenities are proposed.      
Property Owner/Applicant: 1015, LLC and 1045, LLC (Carmine Iosue, Luke 
and Nicole Mertens, Joshua Iosue, Megan Iosue and Joseph Iosue) 
Representative: Jack Frigo, Frigo and Associates and others 

 
continued on the next page 

 
 
 

MEETING PROCEDURES 

Plan Commission meetings follow 
the procedures outlined below.  In 
the spirit of fairness to all parties, 
any of these procedures may be 
modified for a particular item at the 
discretion of the Chairman. 

1. Introduction of the Item by the 
 Chairman 

2. Declaration of Conflicts of 
Interest and Ex Parte Contacts 

3. Swearing in of Parties 
Intending to Testify 

4. Presentation by the Petitioner – 
not to exceed 20 minutes.  

5. Identification of Issues by Staff 
- not to exceed 5 minutes. 

6. Questions and requests for 
clarification from Commission 
to Petitioner or Staff. 

7. Public Testimony - not to 
exceed 5 minutes per speaker. 

8. Opportunity for cross 
examination.  Requires 
submittal of request to cross 
examine prior to meeting. 

9. Final Questions from 
Commission to Petitioner or 
Staff, direction to Petitioner 
and Staff, requests for 
additional information. 

10. Petitioner Rebuttal - not to 
exceed 10 minutes. 

11. Staff Response to Public 
Testimony - not to exceed 5 
min. 

12. Commission Discussion and 
Comment 

13. Commission Action 

Mandatory Adjournment Time  
11:00 p.m. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/s/84203247431


 
 
 

 
 
 

4. Public Hearing and Action: Consideration of approvals related to the third and 
final phase of the McKinley Road Multi-Family Planned Development.  The 
petition requests:  a zone change from R-1 to GR-3 for the western portion of 
property addressed as 373 E. Westminster, a Special Use Permit, a tentative plat 
of consolidation and approval of the overall site plan.  A two story condominium 
building is proposed with underground parking.  The property proposed for 
development is located to the east of the condominium buildings addressed as 
705, 723 and 727 McKinley Road, on the south side of Westminster.   
Property Owners:   373 EW LLC (Todd Altounian and Peter Witmer) 
                               361 Westminster LLC (Peter Witmer and Todd Altounian) 
                               City of Lake Forest  
Applicant:  Peter Witmer and Todd Altounian 

  
Other Items 
5. Opportunity for the public to address the Plan Commission on matters not on the 

agenda. 
 
6. Additional information from staff. 

 
Consideration of the 2021 Plan Commission Meeting Calendar. 

 

























































































































 

 
STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION  

McKinley Road Redevelopment – Phase 3  (Final Phase) 
 

TO:   Chairman Kehr and Members of the Plan Commission 
DATE:  January 13, 2021  
FROM:  Catherine Czerniak, Director of Community Development 
SUBJECT: McKinley Road Redevelopment – Phase 3      

 
OWNERS 
373 EW LLC 
(Todd Altounian 50%, 
  Peter Witmer 50%) 
 
City of Lake Forest 
 

PROPERTY LOCATION 
361 and 373 Westminter,   

Located East of McKinley Road,  
South of Westminster 

 

ZONING  
GR-3 General Residence 
and R-1 Single Family 
Residence Districts 
   

APPLICANT 
361 Westminster LLC  
Todd Altounian 50% 
Peter Witmer 50% 
13310 W. Highway 176 
Lake Bluff, IL 60044 
 
REPRESENTATIVE 
Peter Witmer, architect/owner 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This is a request for approvals associated with the third phase of the McKinley Road 
Redevelopment, a Planned Multi-Family Development.  The concept of redeveloping the area on 
the east side of McKinley Road, between Deerpath and Westminster and within walking distance to 
the train station and Central Business District for multi-family residential use resulted from the work 
of the Cultural Corridor Task Force, an adhoc group formed in 2011 to study the area.  The study 
concluded that as redevelopment opportunities became available, uses along the east side of 
McKinley Road, near the train station, should transition from office to multi-family residential to 
provide new housing opportunities adjacent to the Central Business District and near cultural uses 
such as the Library, Gorton Community Center and the History Center.  Consolidation of office, 
retail, restaurant and service businesses on the west side of the railroad tracks was encouraged to 
provide for synergy among the uses in the business district.   
 
Over the course of several meetings in 2016, the Plan Commission considered concepts for 
redevelopment of various properties located east of McKinley Road, in the immediate vicinity of the 
train station.  After much deliberation, the Plan Commission developed a set of “Redevelopment 
Recommendations”, to guide future discussions.  A copy of the recommendations as approved by 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 2  
 

the Plan Commission in August, 2016 is included in Commission’s packet as background 
information.   
 
The Master Plan for the McKinley Road Redevelopment was forwarded to the City Council by the 
Plan Commission in December, 2016 with a recommendation for approval and, based on that 
recommendation, the City Council approved the Master Plan in early 2017.   
 
The City’s Comprehensive Plan supports multi-family development along the east side of McKinley 
Road and the Office and General Residence Zoning Districts permit multi-family residential use as 
planned development, in this area.   The area east of McKinley Road, east of the train station, is a 
transitional area, across from Market Square and flanked by institutional uses; the Library and the 
Church of the Covenants, and adjacent to the 333 Westminster condominium building on the 
southeast corner of McKinley Road and Westminster.  The area is adjacent to single family homes to 
the east and across from single family homes located on the north side of Westminster.  The 
recommendation of the Cultural Corridor Task Force, to eliminate office uses on the east side of 
McKinley Road, substantially reduces the potential for increased traffic and the need for additional 
parking in this area which would have resulted from redevelopment of the area with office uses 
consistent with the past uses in this area.          
 
REVIEW 
Summary of Discussions, Direction and Actions to Date on the McKinley Road Redevelopment 
Before detailing the specific changes reflected in the Phase 3 plan as now presented, a review of past 
discussions, direction and actions relating to the McKinley Road Redevelopment and specifically to 
the third phase of the development, is provided below.  Given the extensive discussions that have 
occurred to date, a review is appropriate to allow consideration of the current petition in the context 
of the discussions to date.  The past discussions do not bind the Commission to a particular decision 
or direction however, they do provide an important framework for the continuing review by the 
Plan Commission and acknowledge the time, thought and effort put into planning for the 
redevelopment of this area by many parties.   
 
Master Plan and Phases 1 and 2    
The Master Redevelopment Plan envisions the area transitioning from office uses to a single, unified 
multi-family residential development, occurring in phases over time, as properties become available 
for redevelopment.  The Plan was not intended to dictate the specific footprint of buildings or 
details of the site and was not a guarantee of any specific approvals.  The Master Plan does however 
identify some high level concepts to be implemented:  three development sites providing for 
redevelopment over time in response to community needs and the market, a private road to provide 
access into and through the development (over which a public access easement has in part already 
been recorded), a publicly accessible green space, a limited amount of additional land for the 
Library, underground parking, a transition from the higher density development in the Central 
Business District to the single family residential neighborhoods to the east, and pedestrian walkways 
through the development with connections to public streets and the Library.   
 
The first building in the development, Phase 1 of the Plan, is complete.  There was great interest in 
the condominium units, they are sold and occupied.  Construction of the Phase 2 building is nearing 
completion.  The second building very closely replicates the first building in architectural style, 
detailing and exterior materials.  The second building is smaller than the first building, however, the 
width of the building along the McKinley Road streetscape is consistent with the width of the first 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 3  
 

building.  The massing of the second building narrows as it moves to the east providing interest 
when viewed from the south.  The second building is shorter in depth than the first building, 
providing the opportunity for green space to the north of the Library.  The first building has 13 
units, including two affordable units.  The second building has six units and interior buildout and 
finishing of the individual units is underway.     
 
As noted above, the Master Plan was not an approved site plan but instead set forth a concept for 
redevelopment of the area.  As always expected, as detailed plans were developed and as discussions 
and public input has continued, the development has evolved significantly from the early and 
undefined concepts presented in the Master Plan.  A summary of some of the changes that have 
occurred through the process is provided below. 
 

 After acquiring the first, northernmost office building property, the City discouraged the 
developer from proceeding with redevelopment of that parcel alone, with a new office 
building.  Instead, consistent with the recommendation of the Cultural Corridor Adhoc 
Task Force, the City encouraged the developer to develop a comprehensive plan for 
redevelopment of the area with multi-family residential uses.  The City encouraged the 
developer to pursue acquisition of additional properties in the area and coordinate with 
other property owners toward comprehensive redevelopment of the area.   

 At the City’s urging, and to the credit of both parties, the Church of the Covenants and 
the developer negotiated and ultimately came to an agreement to allow the development 
to be expanded somewhat on to the Church property to the south to provide a more 
consistent streetscape appearance.     

 The public green space as originally envisioned was extended to the east.  The green space 
that is envisioned pending approval of the third phase of the development is 
approximately the same size as the Greensward in Market Square.   

 To accommodate the shift in the green space to the east, the conceptual building footprint 
for the condominium building in the third phase of the development was shifted to the 
north.   

 The northern City parcel, the parcel with frontage on Westminster, originally reflected on 
the Master Plan as the site of a potential duplex that could be constructed independent of 
the larger redevelopment, was incorporated into the redevelopment site, at the City’s 
urging. 

 The concept of two or more buildings on the phase three parcel was rejected because of 
the increased building mass and inconsistency with the early phases of the redevelopment.   

 
Phase 3 – Discussions to Date 
To date the Plan Commission has considered and invited public testimony on the third phase of the 
McKinley Road Redevelopment over the course of five meetings as summarized below. 
 
March, 2019 
At the March 13, 2019 meeting, the Commission held a public hearing to consider the plat of 
subdivision for Phase 2 of the McKinley Road Redevelopment.  During that discussion, the 
Commission directed that prior to submittal of a plan for the third phase of the development for 
Plan Commission consideration, the petitioner develop concept studies and return to the 
Commission for preliminary discussion and input.  The Commission encouraged the petitioner to 
return to the Commission sooner, rather than later. 
 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 4  
 

June, 2019 
On June 20, 2019, the Plan Commission opened a public hearing and heard a presentation on 
conceptual plans for the third and final phase of the McKinley Road Redevelopment.  The 
developer reviewed several concepts that were studied in response to input and requests from 
neighbors.  Some of the concepts explored expanded the boundaries of the development beyond 
those reflected in the approved Master Plan.  After studying various concepts, the developer 
presented a conceptual plan for Phase 3 including two buildings, a three story condominium 
building with underground parking and a duplex, a two unit building.  The Commission commented 
that the plan appeared generally consistent with the Master Plan but that the building mass appeared 
to be too much for the site.  The Commission directed the developer to further develop the plans 
and return to the Commission for further review and discussion.          
   
September, 2019 
On September 11, 2019, more detailed plans were presented to the Commission.  At the request of 
the Commission, general information was provided on the terms of the Purchase, Sale Agreement 
that was entered into by the City and the developer for the sale of the north City parcel.  In 
summary, the Purchase, Sale Agreement provides for the following: 

 

 Transfer of a portion of the Phase 2 development area to provide limited additional land 
for the Library.  (The recorded plat for the Phase 2 area delineates this transfer area.)   

 Requires the developer to bear all costs and the responsibility for removing the building 
on the site, the former location of the Historical Society.  (This work is complete.) 

 Allows use of the City property by the developer as a staging area during construction of 
Phases 1 and 2.   

 Acknowledges that the final plans may vary somewhat from the Master Plan for the 
overall development as originally approved.   

 Limits the overall development, all phases, to no more than four, multi-family buildings. 

 Anticipates the overall development occurring in at least three phases. 

 Permits the Phase 3 area to be developed with up to 14 units, in no more than two 
buildings, with the northerly building, the building fronting on Westminster, limited to no 
more than six units.   

 Requires easements to be put in place to allow public access on the east/west private 
road, the north/south alley and on the green space. 

 Requires maintenance, repair and replacement of the alley, on an ongoing basis by the 
developer, and later, the Homeowners’ Association(s), at no cost to the City. 

 Requires the developer, and later the Homeowners’ Association(s) to maintain the green 
space.     

 
At the end of the September meeting, the Commission voted to continue the petition and endorsed 
the site plan as generally conforming to the previously approved Master Plan with some exceptions.  
The Commission continued to question whether the overall massing and height of the two buildings 
as then proposed creates an appropriate transition between the larger buildings to the west and the 
single family homes to the east.  The Commission in particular raised concerns about the mass of 
the duplex building proposed at the north end of the site on the Westminster streetscape, the 
location of the driveway entrance to the underground garage off of Westminster and the front facing 
garage.   



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 5  
 

The Plan Commission, with hesitation on the part of some members, requested review of the design 
aspects of the development by the Historic Preservation Commission and asked that the 
Commission particularly focus on:  1) the building massing, 2) roof forms, 3) height, 4) architectural 
elements and details on the south end of the west elevation of the third condominium building, 5) 
minimizing views of the driveway to the underground garage from the streetscape and 6) the 
landscape plan particularly with respect to screening and softening views of the phase three 
development from the Westminster streetscape and the neighboring homes to the east.  However, 
based on input received from residents at an informal drop-in session that was held after the 
September meeting, the petitioner decided to make changes to the plan in response to public 
comment and the comments of the Plan Commission before moving forward to the Historic 
Preservation Commission.  The revisions to the plan were significant enough that the revised plan 
was returned to the Plan Commission for further review in November, 2019.      
   
November, 2019 
Modifications to the Plan Since the November Meeting 
On November 14, 2019, the petitioner presented revised plans to the Commission.  In response to 
earlier comments, the plans reflected various modifications.  Key modifications are summarized 
below.    
 

1. The second building, the duplex, was eliminated from the plan and the condominium 
building was elongated. 

2. The overall height of the building was lowered to 37’ at the southwest corner of the building 
and 39’3” at the northeast corner of the building.   

3. The third floor component of the building was stepped back further from the Westminster 
streetscape.     

4. The footprint of the building was modified to provide a greater separation distance between 
the condominium building and the garage on the neighboring 373 Westminster property.   

5. The architecture at the north end of the building was modified to create a lighter, more 
residentially scaled appearance.     

6. The landscape concept for the “front yard” along Westminster, was clarified with the goal of 
creating an appearance consistent with the landscaped front yards of the nearby homes.   

 
At the November meeting, the Commission commented that the elimination of the duplex building 
on Westminster was responsive to some of the earlier concerns.  The Commission raised some 
continuing concerns about the building mass, height and compatibility with the neighboring homes 
to the east and the Westminster streetscape.  The Commission provided direction particularly with 
respect to modifying the design of the north elevation and the building elements in that area to more 
closely resemble the homes along the street in scale and detailing.  The Commission continued the 
petition requesting further study and refinement of the plan.   
 
December 2019 
On December 11, 2019 the Commission considered further refinements to the plan for the third 
phase of the development.  The minutes of the December meeting are included in the Commission’s 
packet, please refer to the minutes for details of the discussion. 
 
At the end of the December 11th meeting, the Commission voted 6 to 0 in support of the following 
motion: 
 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 6  
 

Conclude the Commission’s early review and input on the proposed site plan for the third phase of 
the McKinley Road redevelopment with the indication that the Plan Commission finds the 
conceptual plans presented on December 11, 2019 to be general in conformance with the Master 
Plan.  The Commission in approving the motion clarified that the motion does not grant any 
entitlements or guarantees of approval of the site plan.  The motion included direction to staff to 
forward the design aspects of the project to the Historic Preservation Commission for review.  The 
Commission also directed the petitioner to prepare the documents necessary for approval.  The 
motion directed staff to return the petition to the Plan Commission for a formal recommendation to 
the City Council.     

 
As a follow up to the December, 2019 Plan Commission meeting, the Historic Preservation 
Commission considered the design aspects of the Phase 3 building in January and February 2020.  
At the end of the February meeting, the Historic Preservation Commission voted to deny approval 
of the design aspects of the project as presented based on various concerns including concerns 
about the overall height and massing of the building and the architectural style and detailing.  The 
detailed minutes of the Historic Preservation Commission’s February meeting are included in the 
Commission’s packet for further information on the discussion that occurred.   
 
After the Historic Preservation Commission’s vote, the developer requested that the matter not be 
forwarded to the City Council for action indicating the intent to consider the comments heard to 
date and explore the potential for alternative approaches to the third phase of the development.   
 
STAFF EVALUATION 
Phase 3 Plan as Currently Proposed 
 
This petition is back before the Plan Commission for consideration, public hearing and 
recommendations in a modified form since the Commission last saw this project in December, 
2019.  As detailed above, this plan has continued to evolve over the course of many meetings and 
many months in response to input from the Commission and members of the public.  The plan now 
presented directly responds to the concerns raised about building massing and height and providing 
a transition between the more intensive uses to the west and the single family homes to the east and 
north.  The third and final phase of the McKinley Road Redevelopment is now presented as a two 
story, rather than a three story condominium building.   
 
Since the December, 2019 meeting, the petitioners acquired the adjacent property to the east, 373 
Westminster.  The property is developed with a single family residence constructed as a spec home 
in 1963.  The prior owners, the Donovans, requested and received approval from the City’s Historic 
Preservation Commission to demolish the home in 2016 citing its lack of historic importance, lack 
of association with a significant architect, and the home’s marginal integrity due to water seepage 
and settling cracks.  The prior owners did not proceed with the demolition of the house or with the 
construction of the replacement residence that was approved by the Commission at that time. 
 
The developer proposes to demolish the existing house and consolidate a portion of the property, a 
38 foot wide strip of land, into the Phase 3 development site.  As a result of expanding the foot print 
of the development site by 38 feet, a redesigned two story, rather than three story, condominium 
building can be accommodated on the site while still retaining the underground parking and the 
same number of units, six to eight, as previously proposed.  The two story building eliminates the 
need to attempt to visually scale down the building using various architectural elements to minimize 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 7  
 

the third floor and as a result, the Phase 3 building is designed in a manner consistent with the two 
other buildings in the development.            
 
Approvals Requested 
 
Zoning 

1. A zone change is requested for the western 7,225 square feet of the property currently 
addressed as 373 Westminster.  (No change is proposed to the historic district boundary.)  
The area proposed for rezoning is 38.13 feet wide along Westminster and 37.17 feet wide 
along the south property line.  The 373 Westminster property is currently zoned R-1, Single 
Family Residence.  The petitioners are requesting rezoning of the western portion, less than 
a third of the property, to GR-3, General Residence, to align the zoning with the rest of the 
Phase 3 site.  No change is proposed to the zoning on the remainder of the 373 Westminster 
property.  The property will remain zoned R-1, the land area of the remaining property, 
18,610, exceeds the minimum lot size of 9,375 and the minimum lot width of 75 feet as 
required in the R-1 zoning district and, the property will be redeveloped with a single family 
house.  The new residence proposed on the property will require review and approval by the 
City’s Historic Preservation Commission.     

 
The GR-3 District permits one and two family dwellings and planned multi-family developments.   
 
The Plan Commission must consider zone changes based on criteria in the Code indicated below in 
italics.  Findings in support of the zone change are provided below.   
 
The zone change must be considered in the context of zoning classifications of other properties within the general area. 
 
The 38 foot wide strip of land proposed for rezoning is located adjacent to property zoned GR-3 
immediately to the west and is proposed to be consolidated with the adjacent property for 
development purposes.  Property to the northwest, across Westminster, is also zoned GR-3 and the 
GR-3 zoning further to the north extends east, bordering several properties zoned R-1.  An 
illustration of the zoning in the surrounding area is attached to this staff report.  The remainder of 
the 373 Westminster property will retain its current R-1 zoning classification.  A zone change for the 
strip of land as proposed is not inconsistent with the general pattern of zoning in this area and is 
consistent with its location adjacent to a transition area between the Central Business District and 
the residential neighborhoods to the east. 
   
The zone change must be considered in the context of existing uses in the general area. 
 
The zone change is requested to allow a 7,225 square foot parcel of land to be added to a partially 
completed planned development.  The uses proposed for the parcel to be rezoned are not 
inconsistent with the existing uses in the area.  The parcel to be rezoned will be incorporated into 
the final phase of a multi-building development and will facilitate a reduction in the height of the 
third building providing a transition in building mass to the single family homes to the east.  Other 
surrounding uses, in addition to single family homes, include condominium buildings, an apartment 
building, a Church, the Library, the train station and railroad tracks and the Central Business District 
to the west. 
 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 8  
 

The zone change must be considered in the context of the suitability of the property for uses as permitted under the 
existing and proposed zoning. 
 
The land proposed for rezoning is suitable for incorporation into the planned development on the 
adjacent property.  The property is in a transition area and presently, there is a void on the 
streetscape between the higher density uses and building masses to the west, and the single family 
neighborhood to the east.  The development as now proposed steps down from the larger buildings 
to the smaller scale buildings.  The proposed two story condominium building is similar in height to 
the single family homes in the neighborhoods to the east and   
 
The demolition of the existing house on the 373 Westminster property has been contemplated for 
several years.  The 373 property is not properly graded or equipped with stormsewers and as a result, 
the property and house regularly are impacted by stormwater flowing east on Westminster and from 
the south.  This property, in its present condition sits at a low spot.  Redevelopment of the property 
with proper grading and storm sewers is necessary.  The proposed incorporation of the west 38 feet 
of the property and the redevelopment of the remainder of the property with a new single family 
residence will facilitate improvements to the site by providing the opportunity for regrading beyond 
the limits of the original phase three parcel and the installation of storm sewers.       
   
The trend of development and recent changes in the area. 
 
This area has recently experienced redevelopment.  As part of a long term plan, as the parcels along 
McKinley Road became available for redevelopment, multi-family residential development replaced 
office buildings.  A Master Plan was approved by the City Council in 2017 identifying the area 
immediately west and adjacent to the small parcel proposed for rezoning for multi-family residential 
development and more specifically, as a transition from the higher density and larger buildings to the 
west to the single family homes to the east.  The proposed rezoning allows redevelopment in a 
manner consistent with the direction heard through the review process to date to provide an 
appropriate transition from the more intense uses to the single family neighborhood.  The proposed 
incorporation of the 38 foot wide strip of land allow for a two story building by slightly increasing 
the width on a portion of the building.     
   
The zone change must be considered in the context of changing conditions in the general area and whether the proposed 
change is reasonably necessary to promote public health, safety or general welfare.   
     
The requested zone change is reasonably necessary to allow the third phase of the planned 
development as contemplated in the previously approved Master Plan to be completed in a manner 
that provides an appropriate transition to the adjacent single family homes.  Completion of the 
development will achieve the goal of offering additional opportunities for residential units near the 
Central Business District which was determined in past discussions to be in the best interest of the 
overall community by adding to the vitality and customer base for local businesses.  In the current 
condition, the sites in this request do not enhance the character of the historic district.     
 
Master Plan and Redevelopment Recommendations  

2. A determination of general consistency with the site plan and proposed development 
with the Master Plan and Redevelopment Recommendations is requested.  The Phase 
3 plan as presented is consistent with the framework established by the approved Master 
Plan.  The earlier approvals anticipated up to two buildings as part of the third and final 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 9  
 

phase of the development, but did not mandate two buildings, and permitted up to 14 units.  
Six to eight units are proposed in the current plan, in a single building.   As directed by the 
Redevelopment Recommendations as approved by the Plan Commission in August 2016: 

 

 Publicly accessible pedestrian walkways are incorporated into the plan.     

 Underground parking is provided for all units. 

 Shared guest parking is provided on the site. 

 Meaningful open spaces are provided both on the south and north ends of the phase 
three building.  The green space on the south, which is the approximate size of the 
Greensward in Market Square, will be accessible to the public through a recorded 
easement.  A landscaped “front yard” is provided along the Westminster streetscape 
frontage providing an appropriate transition to the residential neighborhood to the 
east.       

 The City property, the parcels on which the former Historical Society was located, is 
incorporated into a larger development and not left with uncertainty to develop in an 
isolated manner.    

 
Plat of Consolidation 

3. A recommendation in support of the tentative plat of consolidation is requested.   
Plan Commission action is required on various types of plats.  This plat of consolidation, combines 
the various parcels and the alley into a single development parcel.  The plat will only be recorded 
upon City Council final approval of the overall development.   
 
Special Use Permit 

4. A recommendation in support of a Special Use Permit approving the third phase of a  
Multi-Family Planned Development.   

  
The establishment, maintenance or operation of the use shall not be detrimental to or endanger public health, safety, 
morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
The proposed use in conjunction with the earlier phases of the development are part of a plan to 
transition uses in this area from office buildings to multi-family residential.  This change reduces 
traffic congestion and parking needs that would result from redevelopment of the larger area for 
office uses.  The proposed multi-family building will add six to eight units to this area near other 
multi-family buildings and within walking distance to the Central Business District to support stores, 
restaurants and service businesses.  The building will be constructed to current building and life 
safety codes and, landscaping is planned to soften the currently bare streetscape in this area creating 
a landscaped streetscape entrance into the historic district consistent with a pattern found 
throughout the historic district.   
 
The use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes 
already permitted and will not substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.   
 
The proposed development will provide certainty in a transition area that long has been somewhat 
of an eyesore along the streetscape.  All required zoning setbacks are exceeded and the height of the 
building is in compliance with the height permitted by the code and not inconsistent with 
surrounding homes to the north and east.  No documentation has been submitted to demonstrate 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 10  
 

that the proposed development will substantially diminish or impair property values in fact, 
providing certainty around how the property will be developed and replacing a 1960’s residence with 
a new residence which will be subject to review and approval by the Historic District will help to 
support property values in the surrounding area.   
   
The use will not impede the orderly and normal development and improvement of surrounding properties.  The use will 
not negatively affect or detract from the primary retail nature of the nearby business district.   
Properties in the vicinity are for the most part developed.  Redevelopment is occurring on property 
several lots to the east, on the four lots recently created through the Swift Subdivision.  Those 
parcels are more centrally located in the historic district, surrounded on all sides by historic 
properties in the historic district, unlike this property which is located at the very edge of the historic 
district.  The rezoning of a 38 foot wide strip of land totaling 7,225 square feet, located at the 
perimeter of the historic district will not establish a precedent for zone changes elsewhere in the 
East Lake Forest Historic District which  totals over 1,000 acres in size.  Each zoning and 
development request is required by Code to be reviewed based on the facts specific to the individual 
petition.  For instance, in the late 1970’s, a condominium development was approved on Mayflower 
Road.  The condominiums remain today and that development has not triggered, in four decades, 
other requests for multi-family construction or conversion in the East Lake Forest Historic District.      
 
As a requirement of the Plan Commission, publicly accessible green space is provided as part of the 
development enhancing what was formerly a back alley type area adjacent to the Library.  The 
current plan offers public pedestrian walkways through the development connecting the adjacent 
residential neighborhood more directly with the train station and the Library.  The Library 
renovation plans do not contemplate the need for expansion of the Library in a linear fashion to the 
north but instead, the concept being pursued anticipates renovation of the existing building and 
alterations on the existing Library site.      
 
Architectural appearance and functional plan of the use shall not be incompatible with the surrounding area.   
The building as proposed replicates the two previously approved buildings in a two story mass 
rather than three story mass.  The design aspects of the building, the exterior materials and 
landscaping will all be subject to review and approval by the Historic Preservation Commission. 
  
Adequate utilities, access roads and drainage facilities are available or will be provided as part of the development.   
Adequate utilities and public roads exist to serve the proposed development.  The phase three 
property was previously developed with an outbuilding from an early estate and the properties on 
which phases one and two of the development were constructed were previously developed with 
three office buildings.  A stormwater management plan, reflecting drainage and grading 
improvements, has been developed.  The proposed improvements include regrading and the 
installation of storm sewers on the development site as well as on neighboring properties to the east 
subject to approval by the City and the property owner.  The 373 Westminster property is low lying 
and currently is impacted by stormwater flowing from the west and south.  Improvements to this 
condition are planned as part of the development.   
 
Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress to minimize traffic congestion on public 
streets. 
Two access points to the overall development exist.  No changes to the location of those access 
points is proposed or needed to accommodate the third building.   
 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 11  
 

Additional Information  
Zoning Setbacks 
The required zoning setbacks that are applicable to the Phase 3 property are: 
 Front yard setback – 40 feet 
 Side yard setback - 6 feet  
 Rear yard setback – 35 feet 
 
The building as now proposed exceeds all of the required setbacks.  No variances are requested.  As 
currently proposed, the building setbacks are as follows: 
 Front yard setback – 69 feet to the one-story porch element 
 Front yard setback – 84 feet to the two story mass of the building 
 Side yard setback – 15 feet 
 Rear yard setback – 51 feet    
 
Parking and Traffic 
Underground parking exceeding the required number of spaces is provided for all of the tenants, in 
all three phases.  Shared guest parking spaces are provided on the street.  The property is close to 
public parking lots along the west side of McKinley which can provide additional parking for special 
occasions.     
 
Importantly, the intent of locating residential units near the train station, the Library, Gorton 
Community Center, the Central Business District and even the beach is that people have the 
opportunity to walk, rather than drive, every time they go out.  People who have purchased the units 
in the first phase were attracted to the development in part due to its walkability.  The development 
provides a unique housing opportunity, a bit more urban in character than found in other locations 
in Lake Forest.  And, the development to date has been successful in attracting people who want to 
live near the City center and successful in generating property taxes for the City, school districts and 
other taxing bodies. 
 
Early in the process, a traffic study was completed by the petitioner’s consultant based on build out 
of the entire site with 30 units.  The study concluded that the traffic generated by a residential 
development of 30 units would be significantly less than the traffic potential from the three office 
buildings that existed at the time the study was completed or from any redevelopment of the site 
with office uses.  The study determined that streets in the area can accommodate traffic from a 
multi-family residential development located in this area.   
     
Building Massing and Height 
The design aspects of the building will require review and approval by the Historic Preservation 
Commission since the property is located within the boundaries of the Original Lake Forest Historic 
District.  Again, no change is requested to the boundaries of the Historic District.  The buildings in 
the two earlier phases were reviewed and approved by the Building Review Board, those buildings 
are not located in the historic district.  The Historic District boundaries were based on the National 
Register District established in the late 1970’s.  The boundaries were drawn originally to include the 
Quinlan Coach House, the former home of the Historical Society, which has since been demolished 
nevertheless, the original boundaries of the Historic District in this area remain as originally drawn.  
As a result the proposed phase three building and new residence will both require review by the 
City’s Historic Preservation Commission.     
 



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 12  
 

The proposed building is now two stories, not three as previously proposed.  A two story building 
provides a more appropriate transition from the taller buildings to the west to the single family 
homes to the east.  A height variance is no longer requested for the building.  The building as now 
presented complies with the allowable height.  To the top of the parapet the majority of the building 
measures 28’-7”.  At one point, the point of the lowest adjacent grade, the top of the parapet 
measures 30’-6”.  The top of the penthouse is at 35’, the maximum allowable height permitted by 
right for the property.    
 
The height of the building was a significant point of discussion in the past.  Finding a way to 
complete the development with a two story building directly responds to the concerns previously 
raised.    
 
Public Notice 
Public notice of this hearing was published in a newspaper of local circulation multiple times and was 
mailed by the City to residents and property owners in the surrounding area and other interested 
parties prior to each meeting.  For this meeting, a notice and a copy of the site plan were mailed 
directly to a total of 106 addresses, on December 30, 2020.  The agenda for this meeting was posted 
at various public locations and on the City’s website.   
 
Staff Recommendation 
Forward a recommendation to the City Council in support of the third phase of the McKinley Road 
Redevelopment, a Multi-Family Planned Development.  The following recommendations are based 
on the findings presented in this staff report.  These recommendations will allow the City Council to 
consider tentative approval of the third phase of the Planned Development and if approved, will 
require the petitioner to finalize various plans and documents for final consideration.       
 

1. Recommend approval of a zone change from R-1, Single Family Residence to GR-3, 
General Residence, for an approximately 38 foot wide parcel of land totaling 7,225 square 
feet with an effective date only upon consolidation of the strip of land with the larger Phase 
3 property and subject to final approval of Phase 3 of the development.   

 
If the Commission recommends approval of the zone change:  
 

2. Recommend approval of the site plan as now presented for Phase 3 of the McKinley Road 
Redevelopment based on the findings that the site plan and the overall Planned 
Development is in substantial conformance with the Master Plan and Redevelopment 
Recommendations as previously recommended by the Plan Commission and accepted by 
the City Council.  
 

3. Recommend approval of the Plat of Consolidation.   
 

4. Recommend approval of a Special Use Permit approving Phase 3 of the McKinley Road 
Planned Multi-Family Development subject to review of the design aspects of the 
development by the Historic Preservation Commission.     
 

General Recommendations  
5. Continue cooperative efforts to underground the remaining overhead utility wires located 

off of, but near, the development site.   



Staff Report and Recommendation  
January 13, 2021 – Page 13  
 

6. Direct that prior to the issuance of any permits for work on the Phase 3 site, staff from 
Community Development, Public Works and Police meet with the developer to discuss 
construction staging and parking.  The following shall be required in addition to other 
requirements staff determines to be appropriate:  off site parking for construction workers, 
chain link fencing with screening around the perimeter of the entire site and interim drainage 
and grading plans to address runoff during construction and prior to the full implementation 
of the final stormwater management plan. 

   
  

 
 
 
 




















































































	Waukegan and Everett Roads PC 1.13.2021 for web.pdf
	McKinley Road Redevelopment Phase 3 PC 1.13.2021 for web.pdf
	Plan Commission Agenda 1.13.2021.pdf
	The City of Lake Forest
	Plan Commission Agenda
	The Plan Commission meetings are broadcast live on Cable TV





